FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 28 1983

WILLIAM EUTZY,

Appellant,

vs.

SID J. WHITE CLERI SE COU**rt** Chief Dopus CASE NO. 64,212

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

-

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| WILLIAM EUTZY, | : |
|-------------------|---|
| Appellant, | : |
| VS. | : |
| STATE OF FLORIDA, | : |
| Appellee. | : |
| | : |

CASE NO. 64,212

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, WILLIAM EUTZY, was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as appellant or by his proper name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution and will be referred to as the state. The record on appeal will be referred to by use of the symbol "R". All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

William Eutzy and Laura Denise Eutzy were charged by indictment returned March 15, 1983 with the first degree murder of Herman Hughley (R.344). Laura Denise Eutzy was charged in a second count with carrying a concealed firearm (R.344). Following jury selection on July 5, 1983 (R.3-91), William Eutzy's case proceeded to trial on July 6-7, 1983, before Circuit Judge William S. Rowley and a jury. The jury returned a verdict finding William Eutzy guilty as charged of first degree murder with premeditation (R.304-05,375). After the penalty phase of the trial, the jury recommended that Eutzy by sentenced to life imprisonment without possibility of parole for 25 years (R.335,378).

-1-

The trial court declined to follow the jury's recommendation and imposed the death penalty (R.341,376-77,382). Notice of appeal was filed on July 22, 1983 (R.386). On September 6, 1983, the First District Court of Appeal (in which the appeal had been mistakenly filed) transferred the appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following is a summary of the evidence presented at trial:

Paul Ferguson, a police officer employed at the regional airport in Pensacola, observed a white male and a white female walking around inside the terminal at about 12:30 a.m. on February 26, 1983 (R.105-06). The man had glasses, a mustache, and a stubble of beard, was wearing a brown cowboy hat, and was carrying a brown briefcase (R.111). Ferguson approached them to ascertain whether they were waiting for a flight or a cab, and the man said he was going back to Missouri (R.106). Ferguson asked for identification, and the man showed him a government vehicle card in the name of Raymond Sanders (R.106-07). The woman showed him a Louisiana driver's license (R.107). Ferguson wrote down the information on a piece of paper (R.107). He then went back to making his rounds, during which time he occasionally saw the man and woman (R.109). When he got off work at 8:00 a.m., Ferguson did not see them, and they did not come through the screening area, which they would have done to board a flight (R.109). He did not see them again that day (R.110). [Ferguson identified appellant, William Eutzy, as the man he approached at the airport (R.108)].

The following night, at about 11:50 p.m., Ferguson was driving back to work and he passed the intersection of College Boulevard and Tippen Avenue, where he saw a Dodge Aspen or Volare station wagon (R.110-11). The vehicle

-2-

was a West Hill cab (R.110). Ferguson later passed the same cab at that location four or five more times; he assumed it was broken down (R.111). The next day, after the body was discovered, there were police cars around the cab (R.111-12).

On cross-examination, Ferguson testified that the woman at the airport had a blue handbag or purse, which she went into to get her identification (R.115).

Mary Louise Kirkland, a cab driver with West Hill Taxi Company, was working the airport on Saturday, February 26, 1983 (R.116-17). On Friday night, another cab driver had pointed out to her a tall, slender man wearing a hat and a brown plaid shirt-jacket (R.117). She saw him again on Saturday afternoon around 6:30 or 7:00 p.m. in the company of a fat, long-haired woman (R.118). They were getting into the cab in front of Ms. Kirkland's cab, which was driven by Herman Hughley (R.118). Ms. Kirkland identified appellant as the man she saw getting into the cab (R.119).

Rosemary Kirkland, a dispatcher with West Hill Taxi Company, received a dispatch from Herman Hughley at about 6:30 p.m. on February 26, 1983 that he had picked up a fare at the airport and they were going to Pensacola Beach (R.121). At about 7:15 p.m. Hughley informed Ms. Kirkland that they were going to Fort Walton, and ten or twenty minutes later he reported back that they had changed their minds and were going to Panama City (R.121). At about 11:00 p.m., Hughley reported that he had just gotten back (R.122). Ms. Kirkland asked him to repeat what he had said, but she got no response (R.122). She kept calling him by his number, and continued to receive no response (R. 122).

Soliver Ernest Dolby, a security supervisor with Burns Security, was supervising the main campus of Pensacola Junior College (R.124). At around

-3-

11:00 p.m. on February 26, 1983, he was making rounds in the vicinity of College and Tippen (R.125). He did not at that time see a West Hill taxicab parked at that intersection (R.125). If one had been parked there, he did not think he would have noticed it, because there were always cars parked around the handball courts (R.125-26). At about 4:20 a.m., Dolby saw flashing police car lights, and went over and saw a cab (R.125).

Roy Duggan and his wife were returning from a Boy Scout banquet, when they observed a white cab parellel parked on the street near the intersection of College and Tippen (R.128). This was unusual, since cars usually park there at a 90 degree angle, there were no lights on the tennis or racquetball courts, and there was no one around the cab (R.128). Duggan discussed this with his wife (R.128).

Mary Beasley, a cab driver with West Hill, saw Herman Hughley at the airport between 6:00 and 6:30 p.m. on February 26, 1983 (R.130-31). She did not see anyone get into Hughley's cab, since he was behind her (R.131). The following day, Ms. Beasley had to be back at the airport at 4:00 a.m., and on her way there she saw Hughley's cab parked alongside Tippen Avenue (R.131). She backed up and looked in the window (R.131). She could see that somebody was lying across the seat (R.131). She opened the door, and saw that it was Herman Hughley (R.132). Ms. Beasley then called the dispatcher and told them to send somebody over, while she tried to determine what was wrong with Hughley (R.132).

Ms. Beasley further testified that it was ninety-eight miles from Pensacola to Panama City (R.134). As a taxi driver, if you were to drive somebody to Panama City and back, you would collect your money before you leave town (R.134). Ms. Beasley testified that the fare would be at least ninety dollars to Panama City, and the driver could take half fare, an additional

-4-

forty-five dollars, coming back, for a total of one hundred thirty-five dollars round trip (R.134-35).

On cross-examination, Ms. Beasley testified that you don't run the meter out of county. She reiterated that if a couple wanted to go to Pensacola Beach, then changed their minds and wanted to go to Fort Walton, and then decided they wanted to go to Panama City, "I would definitely collect the money first, or I don't go" (R.136). Ms. Beasley stated that it is about a two hour trip to Panama City, or about four hours round trip (R.136-37).

Larry Giles of the Pensacola Police Department observed a taxi parked in an unusual location near the racquetball courts at Pensacola Junior College (R.139-40). He shined his light into the vehicle and didn't see anyone (R.140). He would have stopped, but he was on his way to the scene of an accident (R.140). At the accident scene, another officer, Deputy Robinson, mentioned something about a report of an abandoned vehicle, and Giles told him about the cab near the racquetball courts (R.140). Robinson said he'd check (R.141). Giles finished his accident report and was heading toward the abandoned cab when he received a dispatch that a dead person had been found in the cab (R.141). This was confirmed by Deputy Robinson when Giles arrived there (R.141). Giles secured the crime scene, completed an initial report, and turned the investigation over to other officers (R.141-43).

Gary Meisen, an investigator with the Pensacola Police Department, received a dispatch at his home on the morning of February 27, 1983 that a cab driver had been found shot to death inside his cab (R.146). Meisen went to the scene, where he spoke with Officer Giles, and subsequently interviewed several cab drivers, dispatchers, and witnesses at the airport (R.147-48). On Monday morning, he interviewed an individual named Jackie Humel at the police department (R.148). During this interview, it was brought out that the people Ms. Humel saw at the airport, and "quite possibly" the same people that were seen with the cab driver,

-5-

were seen on Interstate 10 hitchhiking out of town (R.147). Officers Duck and Williams were sent out to the Interstate, and they returned with a man and woman identified as Ray Sanders and Laura Eutzy (R.149). [Meisen identified appellant as the person who gave the name of Ray Sanders (R.149-50)]. Meisen read them their constitutional rights, and they signed waiver forms (R.150). Appellant signed his form "Ray Sanders" (R.150). Laura Eutzy subsequently gave some statements (R.150). It had been ascertained at the Interstate that Laura Eutzy was in possession of a pistol (R.150). At the police department, she signed a consent to search her purse, and a warrant was obtained as well (R.150-51). Inside the purse was a .25 automatic pistol (R.151). Arrangements were made to send the pistol to Tallahassee for testing (R.151). Later that afternoon, David Williams of the F.D.L.E. called back and informed them that the pistol taken from Laura Eutzy's purse was positively identified as the murder weapon (R.152). Meisen and Sergeant Burns confronted Laura Eutzy with this information, at which time she gave another statement (R.152).

On cross-examination, Officer Meisen testified that when he first talked to Laura Eutzy, she said she didn't arrive in Pensacola until a time which was after the murder of Herman Hughley had occurred (R.153). When she was informed that the gun found in her purse was the murder weapon, she changed her story in some respects (R.153-54).

Jacqueline Humel was an employee with the cleaning crew at Pensacola Airport (R.156). On February 26, 1983, between 6:30 and 7:00 p.m., a person named Mark Miller pointed out to her a man in a cowboy hat with black hair, glasses, and a mustache, and a stout lady with long black hair (R.156-57). The man was wearing jeans and a flannel shirt (R.156-57). Later that night, after she got off work at 11:00 p.m., Ms. Humel saw Herman Hughley parked on Tippen Avenue

-6-

facing back toward College Boulevard (R.157). She thought his cab might have broken down or something, but he said no, that he was just waiting on this guy (R.157). Hughley kept looking back over the passenger's door toward a man who was leaning on the door (R.157,160-61). The man then walked over by a tree and stood there, and was still there when she left (R.157). He had a cowboy hat, glasses, and a mustache, and "from what [she] saw" he was the same person she had seen at the airport (R.158).

The following Monday morning, as Ms. Humel was driving to the police station, she saw the same man and woman she had seen at the airport on the Interstate, standing underneath the exit for the bypass (R.158). The man was the same one she had seen at Mr. Hughley's cab (R.158-59). When she got to the police station, she made a composite of the person she saw (R.159-60). Ms. Humel identified appellant as the man she saw at the airport, by the taxicab, and on the Interstate (R.159).

James Richbourg, a crime scene investigator with the Pensacola Police Department, was dispatched to College Boulevard and Tippen in the early morning of February 27, 1983 (R.162). He saw a Plymouth Volare station wagon taxicab at the side of the road with a man slumped over the front seat (R.163). Richbourg processed the crime scene, taking photographs and collecting evidence (R.163). He collected an expended cartridge from the left rear floorboard of the cab (R.163).

Later that morning, Richbourg was present at the autopsy of Herman Hughley, where he observed and photographed a gunshot wound to the right side of Hughley's head (R.164-65). The pathologist, Dr. Potter, removed the bullet (R.165,167-68).

Officer Richbourg further testified that the gun which was removed from Laura Eutzy's purse, along with the bullet and cartridge case, were sent to

-7-

Tallahassee for testing (R.169). Seven more rounds of ammunition were removed from the weapon, and there were twelve additional rounds in Laura Eutzy's purse (R.169-70). Eleven of these rounds were wrapped in tissue paper and there was one loose round (R.170). In addition to the pistol and the live cartridges, Laura Eutzy's purse contained the following items: one brush, four ink pens, one piece of paper with writing on it, five earrings, one bottle of perfume, two lipsticks, one bottle of nail glaze, one powdered eyeshadow, one mascara, four lighters, one nail clipper, two nail files, a pair of tweezers, a bottle of skin lotion, a coupon, a key, a box of No-Doz with two tablets, a case of Demulen with eight tablets, a fuse, five barrettes, an eyeglass repair kit, a jewelry case, a pack of gum, two necklaces, a razor case and razor, a St. Christopher medal, a high school medal, two Eastern luggage tags, a travel pamphlet, two gold rings and a silver band, an address case, a calendar, an envelope containing two letters from the Division of Motor Vehicles, seven pictures, a birth certificate, a marriage certificate, a letter from Harmon and Cats (sic), a receipt, a wallet with miscellaneous papers, a driver's license in the name of John Carl Eutzy, two social security cards in the name of Laura Eutzy and one in the name of John Eutzy, another gold ring, and a pamphlet on the RG-26 automatic pistol (R.172-76). Richbourg testified that he could see the pistol in the center of the purse as he opened the purse (R.176-77). There was no problem seeing it (R.177).

Oscar Charles Meadows, a security officer with the Holiday Inn, testified that between 11:00 p.m. and midnight on February 26, 1983 he saw a person who was later identified to him as Laura Eutzy (R.179-80). The following night, Sunday, he saw a person who was identified to him as Raymond Sanders (R.180). Meadows testified that "Sanders" was appellant, William Eutzy (R.180).

On cross-examination, Meadows acknowledged that in deposition he had

-8-

stated that the first time he saw either Laura Eutzy or Raymond Sanders was at about 2:00 a.m. on Sunday morning sitting on a loveseat outside Chap's Restaurant (R.181-84). Meadows testified that he could swear to having seen them together outside of Chap's at 2:00 a.m.; he thought he also had seen Laura Eutzy alone around 11:00 p.m. but he could not swear to it (R.183-84, 188). Later on, around 3:00 a.m., Meadows asked them both why they were sitting there, and "Sanders" replied that he was waiting for relatives to pick him up in the morning (R.185).

Meadows stated that appellant, or "Sanders", was wearing jeans and a shirt; the jeans were "possibly" very tight fitting (R.185). Meadows testified that if appellant had a weapon on his person, or in a pocket or in his waistband, he [Meadows] would have seen it (R.185-86). Meadows stated that he did not see a weapon on appellant's person, or in his pockets or waistband (R.186).

On re-direct, Meadows stated that he did not have occasion to see the back of appellant's waistband (R.187).

James Duck, a Pensacola police officer, drove out to the intersection of I-10 and I-110 on February 28, 1983 to check on a person who was supposed to be hitchhiking there (R.189-90). Duck and another officer observed a white male and a white female standing on the concrete embankment under the overpass (R.190). Duck identified appellant as the male (R.190). The officers advised them that they were suspects in a crime which had occurred in the city, patted them down for weapons, and brought them to the police station for questioning (R.191). Duck asked the woman if she had any knives or guns in her purse, and she answered "yes" (R.191). She said she had a weapon in the zipper section of the purse; Dick looked inside and found a gun, which he subsequently turned over to Officer Gary Meisen (R.192). Ap-

-9-

pellant did not have a weapon on him (R.192).

Laura Denise Eutzy testified that she and her brother-in-law, William Eutzy, arrived in Pensacola on Friday night, February 25, 1983, having last been in Orlando (R.193-95). They went to the Holiday Inn at University Mall and stayed for about an hour and then walked to the airport (R.195-97). They sat around at the airport all night and all day Saturday (R.197-98). Ms. Eutzy testified that they were on their way to Missouri, where her mother lives, and had no particular purpose in coming to Pensacola (R.196).

Laura Eutzy testified that she bought a gun earlier that month in Slidell, Louisiana, because appellant had recommended that she buy one for protection (R.198). Appellant helped pick it out; he said it was a woman's gun (R.198-99). Ms. Eutzy believed that the gun was in her purse when they arrived in Pensacola (R.199).

Laura Eutzy and appellant remained at the airport until about 7:00 p.m. on Saturday, when they caught a cab in front of the airport (R.199). They were going to go to the Holiday Inn on Pensacola Beach, but then they headed to Fort Walton instead (R.200). Appellant was in the front of the cab and Ms. Eutzy was in the back (R.200). She did not know for a fact whether they ever went to Fort Walton, but she heard appellant mention Panama City (R.200-01). She was asleep in the back seat "off and on" (R.201). She believed the gun was in her possession at that time (R.201). Ms. Eutzy estimated that they were in the cab on the way to Panama City for at least two hours (R.201-02). She also did not know for a fact if they ever actually got to Panama City, but she recalled appellant saying he would like to go back to Pensacola (R.201). When they got back to Pensacola around 11:30 p.m. they went back to the Holiday Inn at University Mall (R.202-03). Appellant told Ms. Eutzy to go on inside, that he would be in in a few minutes (R.202). She went into the rest room,

-10-

and when she came back out appellant and the cab driver were gone (R.202-03).

Ms. Eutzy testified that she had no money on her and she believed that appellant had five dollars (R.203). She had no idea how they were going to pay the cab fare; appellant had said he would take care of it (R.203-04). When appellant returned to the hotel about half an hour later, she asked him if he had taken care of it (R.203-04). Appellant said "No", that he had hit the cab driver and knocked him out, but didn't hurt him (R.204). They spent Saturday night at the Holiday Inn, Sunday afternoon at the mall, Sunday night at the Holiday Inn again, and on Monday morning began hitchhiking out of town (R.204). On Monday morning, Ms. Eutzy started to read a Pensacola newspaper (R.204). Appellant tried to take it away from her, and she asked him if there was anything in it he didn't want her to read (R.205). He said "No." (R.205). She got the paper back and saw a headline about the cab driver who was killed (R.205). Appellant said he didn't want to talk about it (R.205). He said he didn't tell her because he didn't want her to worry about it, and he thought she might turn him in (R.205). Ms. Eutzy testified that she would have turned appellant in except he wouldn't let her out of his sight all day until they were picked up by the police officer (R.205-06).

Ms. Eutzy testified that she never saw appellant in possession of her pistol until he gave it back to her on Monday morning (R.206). He told her to come into the arcade in the hotel and open up her purse (R.206). He had her gun tucked into the waistband of his pants, and he put it back into her purse (R.207). Ms. Eutzy testified that she never noticed that the gun was missing, and that she never once opened her purse any time from Saturday night until Monday morning (R.207).

After appellant returned the gun, they went out on the Interstate and started hitchhiking (R.207). About an hour later, the police came and picked

-11-

them up (R.207). Ms. Eutzy identified herself as Laura Eutzy and appellant identified himself as Raymond Sanders (R.208). Appellant had previously told Ms. Eutzy that that was the name he was traveling under (R.208). When the police first questioned her, Ms. Eutzy told them her brother-in-law was named Raymond Sanders, because she was afraid of him (R.209). She acknowledged that she told the police officers stories to protect appellant, again attributing this to being scared of him (R.209-10). She later had occasion to change some of the facts she told the police officers (R.210).

Ms. Eutzy testified that she voluntarily testified before the Grand Jury as to her participation in the investigation (R.210). She testified that she did not have anything to do with the murder of Herman Hughley (R.210).

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