IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM EUTZY,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 64,212

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

SID J. Vernie

JAN 17 1984

CLERK SUPREME COURT By erk

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

LAWRENCE A. KADEN Assistant Attorney General

Department of Legal Affairs The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Appellant's reliance on <u>Gilvin v. State</u>, 418 So.2d 996, 999 (Fla. 1982), is misplaced for the same reason as is his reliance on <u>Cannady</u>. In <u>Gilvin</u>, unlike Appellant's case, there was evidence of non-statutory mitigating circumstances upon which the jury's life recommendation could have been based. Also, there was an improper doubling up of aggravating circumstances. Under those circumstances, reasonable men could differ--again, in Appellant's case, there was nothing in mitigation, either statutory or non-statutory and the trial court found three statutory aggravating circumstances. Appellant's reliance on <u>Washington v. State</u>, 432 So.2d 44, 48 (Fla. 1983), is similarly misplaced. In that case, not only did the prosecutor himself ask that the jury's life recommendation be followed, but also there were two statutory mitigating circumstances as well as non-statutory mitigating evidence which had been introduced by the defense. Also, one of the aggravating circumstances was rejected by this Court. While the list of distinguishable cases could go on for many more pages, the State submits that the point has been made.

Appellant's theory that a jury recommendation of life can be sustained only if the aggravating circumstance of §921.141(5)(h), Fla. Stat., is interesting, but it is not supported by the statute which lists eight other aggravating circumstances, only one of which is necessary to sustain a death sentence. <u>State v. Dixon</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Appellant seems to be arguing that since this wasn't a very grisly murder, a death sentence is inappropriate. The State emphatically disagrees--there was absolutely no reason for Appellant to have murdered a defenseless cab driver. If as Appellant has contended, there was no money involved, that is all the more reason why this crime is reprehensible. While the undersigned is certainly not saying that it is all right to murder for money, at least there is a perverted reason for the killing. Moreover, if Appellant were correct that a killing had to be sloppy, bloody, or gruesome, in order to

- 14 -

sustain a jury override, would that mean that efficient, skillful murderers who manage to kill with only one bullet are rewarded for an especially antiseptic murder? Obviously not.

Appellant has also based his argument on the fact that the State did not even attempt to argue the applicability of §921.141(5)(h). Is Appellant seriously suggesting that a prosecutor should argue the applicability of a statutory aggravating circumstance which this Court would not uphold? The prosecutor should be commended for arguing that only three statutory aggravating circumstances should be found.

Appellant has also argued that the jury might have recommended life because it did not believe Laura Eutzy's testimony that she was unaware that Appellant had taken the gun from her. This is speculation at best--the fact that Laura Eutzy knew that Appellant had taken the gun has absolutely nothing to do with the circumstances of the crime and Appellant's degree of culpability. It is Appellant's culpability which is at issue here, and it should make no difference as to Appellant's sentence whether Laura Eutzy knew that Appellant had the gun. In fact, it would make a death sentence even more appropriate for Appellant if he asked for the gun a day prior to the crime.

But all this is speculation, and the State doesn't want to be guilty of the same speculation for which Appellant has been criticized. The point is that there were three aggravating circumstances and nothing in mitigation, either statutory or non-statutory. Under these circumstances, reasonable men certainly could differ. The trial court's sentence is supported by the record and the law.

In summary, there was a finding by the trial court of multiple aggravating circumstances. The trial court also found that there was nothing in mitigation, either statutory or non-statutory. Under these circumstances, even when a jury recommends a life sentence, the Court has upheld the trial court's decision to impose a death sentence. <u>See, e.g., Routly v. State</u>, <u>440</u> So.2d <u>1257</u>, 8 F.L.W. 388, 391 (Fla. 1983). Appellant should not be persuasive on this point.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING OF THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OF §921.141(5)(i), FLA. STAT., IS SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.

Appellant next contends that the trial court should not have found that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. The State disagrees and submits that the trial court's finding of this aggravating circumstance is supported by the record.

This particular aggravating circumstance was added to the death penalty statute by the Legislature in 1979 in response to this Court's opinions in <u>Riley v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 19 (Fla. 1978), and <u>Menendez v. State</u>, 368 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 1979). Both of those cases involved execution type killings and in both the Court emphasized that the proof had not been strong enough to show that the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest within the contem-1 plation of the death penalty statute.

The State submits that if ever there were an execution type killing, this is the case. Counsel for Appellant has repeatedly argued that there was no evidence of a robbery and that the State did not prove the reason for the murder (Brief of Appellant at 31). However, those are the precise reasons why this murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification. There simply was no reason for Appellant to kill the cab driver, perhaps, other than the fact that Appellant was just plain mean and vicious. The victim was shot in the side of the head from a distance of approximately three to six inches--a classic execution style killing. Moreover, there were no signs or evidence of a struggle prior to the shooting, and Appellant certainly did not offer a theory of self defense. There was evidence that Appellant planned to "take care" of the cab fare, and he did this after letting Laura Eutzy get out of the cab at the Holiday Inn.

Although Appellant has argued that there was insufficient proof of premeditation, Appellant has also recognized that the type and location of the wound "is circumstantial proof of premeditation" (Brief of Appellant at 31) The State submits that this factor,

1

A copy of the Staff Analysis of Senate Bill 523 has been appended to this brief.

coupled with Appellant's taking the gun from Laura Eutzy sometime at least prior to the last cab drive and the fact that Appellant was seen near the cab after he had caused the victim to drive the cab to a secluded area, is more than sufficient to justify the added amount of premeditation required under this Court's decisions. <u>See Routly v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Smith v. State</u>, 424 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1982); <u>Combs</u> <u>v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 456 U.S. 984 (1982).

Appellant's reliance on Cannady v. State, supra, to support his argument that this aggravating circumstance should not have been found is misplaced. This is because in Cannady there was evidence of self defense in that the defendant claimed he had not meant to commit the murder and that he had acted in self defense after the victim jumped at him. Id. 427 So.2d 730. In Appellant's case, however, there was no claim of self defense, and there was absolutely no evidence of any reason to justify the murder of the cab driver. Appellant has also relied on Washington v. State, 432 So.2d 44, 48 (Fla. 1983). However, in that case the Court found that there was no proof of additional premeditation -- in Appellant's case, there was proof that Appellant procured the weapon sometime prior to the last cab ride, let off Laura Eutzy so that she could not see the murder, caused the cab driver to drive to a remote location out of normal view of passersby, and finally shot the victim in a manner which even counsel for Appellant has recognized supports proof of premeditation. The State submits that this aggravating circumstance is

amply supported by the record and evidence adduced at trial and that the trial court properly found that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, premeditated manner without pretense of moral or legal justification (R 376, 377).

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED IN THE COURSE OF AN ATTEMPTED ROBBERY.

Section 921.141(5)(d), Fla. Stat., reads in its entirety:

The capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged, or was an accomplice, in the commission of, or an attempt to commit, or flight after committing or attempting to commit, any robbery, rape, arson, burglary, kidnapping, or aircraft piracy or the unlawful throwing, placing, or discharging of a destructive device or bomb. (Emphasis added)

This aggravating circumstance does not require that there must be actual proof of a robbery. Rather, all it requires is a factual finding that the defendant was attempting to rob when the murder occurred. According to Appellant, this aggravating circumstance should not have been found because there was no proof that the victim had ever had any money on his person prior to the murder. In other words, Appellant's conduct should be excused because the victim had no money. However, this argument fails in light of the Legislature's clear intent to make the aggravating circumstance applicable to attempted felonies as well as completed felonies.

Notwithstanding the fact that there was clear proof of an attempted robbery, the State submits that circumstantially the evidence was sufficient to show that a robbery had occurred. This is because the jurors could use their common sense to infer the fact that the cab driver who had been working that day prior to picking up Appellant and Laura Eutzy certainly must have had some money on his person. Of course, as the trial court found, there was no money on the victim's body when it was discovered (R 376). <u>See Knight v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 435, 436, n. 2 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) (victim found dead from strangulation and battering and his wallet and contents were missing); <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 631, 635 (Fla. 1982) (murder victims had had jewelry and valuables on their persons before they were killed although no jewelry or valuables were ever recovered).

Finally, there was evidence in the record that the cab ride was worth between \$90 and \$135. Since the victim had no money on his person when his body was discovered, the trial court could properly find that Appellant had actually committed a robbery. <u>See Ferguson, supra</u>. The trial court also found that the fact that Appellant procured the weapon at least prior to the last cab ride demonstrated Appellant's intent to rob (R 376). Accordingly, there actually was a robbery in fact as the trial court found.

Contrary to Appellant's argument, the jury's finding of premeditated murder does not constitute an implied acquittal of the robbery because felony murder was not found. The jury was instructed that they could find Appellant guilty of either premeditated or felony murder, but not both (R 294). The evidence supported both theories.

2

In summary, this aggravating circumstance includes attempts to rob as well as actual robberies. In the alternative, there was sufficient circumstantial evidence to demonstrate that the victim was robbed of his money at some time prior to Appellant's fleeing the scene of the crime. Finally, there was evidence in the record to support the trial court's finding that Appellant stole at least the value of the cab ride from the victim. Accordingly, Appellant's argument should be rejected.

ISSUE IV

THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S IN-STRUCTIONS TO THE JURY DURING THE PENALTY PHASE WERE CONSTITUTIONALLY ADEQUATE HAS NOT BEEN PRESERVED FOR APPEAL.

Counsel for Appellant has recognized that there was no objection to the jury instructions as given (Brief of Appellant at 39), yet he has raised the issue anyway. The State submits that because of the lack of an objection, the issue has not been preserved for appeal. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 414 So.2d 509, 511 (Fla. 1982); <u>Steinhorst v.</u> <u>State</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982); <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978); <u>State v. Barber</u>, 301 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1974). The State respectfully requests that the Court not rule on the merits of this issue in order to preserve the State's waiver argument for use during future federal habeas review which is certain to come regardless of how the Court ultimately decides this case. <u>See Engle v. Isaac</u>, 456 U.S. 107, 102 S.Ct. 1558, 71 L.Ed.2d 783 (1982); <u>Wainwright v.</u> Sykes, 433 U.S. 72, 97 S.Ct. 2497, 53 L.Ed.2d 594 (1977).

Assuming only for the sake of argument that the Court wishes to consider the issue, it should be noted that Appellant's jury was given the standard jury instructions which have been approved by the Court on numerous occasions. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Vaught v. State</u>, 410 So.2d 147, 150 (Fla. 1982). Since there was absolutely no evidence of mitigation either during the guilt phase or the sentencing phase, the trial court was not required to instruct on the statutory mitigating circumstances. This was especially true in light of defense counsel's acquiescence to the instructions as given. <u>See Cooper v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 1976). Finally, it should be pointed out that what the trial court did when it cautioned the jury that it could look to the guilt phase for factors in mitigation was for the benefit of Appellant. How then can a different lawyer now be complaining?

The issue was clearly not preserved for appeal, and this Court should not consider it. Appellant's argument is without merit.

- 22 -

ISSUE V

THE ISSUE OF WHETHER FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED BECAUSE OF THE TRIAL COURT'S AUTHORITY TO OVERRIDE A JURY'S RECOMMENDATION WAS NOT PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL COURT AND IS THUS NOT COGNIZABLE ON APPEAL.

Counsel for Appellant has once again raised an issue which was not presented to the trial court. Consequently, since this issue could have been raised prior to trial, the issue has been waived and is not properly before the Court. <u>Steinhorst</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Castor</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Williams</u>, <u>supra</u>; and <u>State v. Barber</u>, <u>supra</u>. This issue does not involve "fundamental error" and Appellant has not offered any "cause and prejudice" to excuse his procedural defaults in the trial court. It should be noted that trial counsel filed numerous pre-trial motions challenging the death penalty statute and procedures (R 345-373)--the reason this issue was not raised was probably because, as appellate counsel has recognized, the issue has been decisively repudiated by both this Court and the United States Supreme Court. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Proffitt v. Florida</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Cannady</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The undersigned wishes to make it clear to the Court that by asking for a finding of procedural default whenever such a finding is applicable, the State is not "playing games" in order to frustrate federal habeas review--this was a concern expressed by one of the members of this Court during oral argument of a recent capital case in which the undersigned participated. The Court must certainly be aware of the growing abuse of the writ of federal habeas corpus, especially in capital cases. See Sullivan v. Wainwright, U.S.

____, 78 L.Ed.2d 210, 213 (1983). In such cases, the scenario usually consists of an issue which was not raised at trial at all, or was raised only cursorily, a state court's ruling on the merits and rejecting the claim, and then a federal court's taking the claim and either reversing the state court's decision or holding the case for a number of years. Although the defendant usually loses in the end, justice has been delayed when it should not have been. The United States Supreme Court has recognized that the federal writ of habeas corpus was not designed to allow a state prisoner to maintain perpetual litigation, and a growing body of case law on procedural default is evident. <u>Wainwright v. Sykes</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Engle</u> <u>v. Isaac</u>, <u>supra</u>. However, this law is applicable only if the issue is not considered by the state courts because of procedural default.

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